SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AND
MSM BROTHERS, INC., D/B/A WHITE CLIFFS AT DOVER AND KIM HUGHES,
RESOLVING UNITED STATES v. MSM BROTHERS, INC., ef al., 17-cv-00321 (D. N.HL.)

L INTRODUCTION

1, This Settlement Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into by and
between Plaintiff, the United States of America (“the United States’f), through the United States
Department of Justice, and Defendants MSM Brothers, Inc. d/b/a White Cliffs at Dover and Kim
Hughes, through their authorized representative, Plaintiff and Defendants are referred to
collectively as “the Parties.” MSM Brothers, Inc, and Kim Hughes are referred to collectively as
“Defendants.”

I.  RECITALS

2. | This Agreement resolves a Complaint filed on July 20, 2017 in United States v.
MSM Brothers, Inc. et al., No. 1:17-¢v-00321-PB, in the United States District Court for the
District of New Hampshire. The Complaint, filed by the United. States on behalf of Kelsie
Hoyne (“Complainant™), against Defendants, alleges violations of the Fair Housing Act
(“FHA™), as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 3601 et seq. (hereinafter “Civil Action”),

3. . Defendants are the owners, operators, and managers of White Cliffs at Dover
apartments (“Subject Property™), a 192-.unit multifamily property located at 510 Martha’s Way in
Dover, New Hampshire. Units at the Subject Property are “dwellings” within the meaning of 42
U.S.C. § 3602(b). -

4. Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc. owns the Subject Property. Defendant Kim
Hughes is or was at the timé of the events alleged in the Complaint an agent of MSM Brothers,

Inc., and provided management setvices at the Subject Property.



5. On August 24, 2016, Complainant filed an administrative complaint with the
~ United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) alleging discrimination
by Defendants in violation of the FHA, The complaint was amended on March 31, 2017. The
Secretary of HUD (“the Secretary”) completed an investigation of the complaint, whiﬁh
included, among other things, extensivle interviews of Defendant Kim Hughes and other property
management staff and current residents of the Subject Property. Following the investigation, on
May 5, 2'017,.the Secretary issued a Det_ermination of Reasonable Cause and Charge of
Discrimination, charging Defendants with discriminatory housing practices in violation of the
FHA. |

6. Defendants and Complainant elected on May 22, 2017, and May 24, .2017,
respectively, to have the Charge of Discrimination resolved in a civil action filed in federal
district court. The Secretary therefore authorized the Attorney General to commence this Civil
Action, pursuant to 42 U.S.C, § 3612(o) of the FHA,

7. On July 20, 2017, the United States filed the Civil Action to enforce the
provisions of the FHA.

8. The United States’ Complaint alleges that Defendants have engaged in housing
practices that discriminate on the basis of familial status by:

a, Refusing to negotiate the rental of a first-floor unit to Complainant because
she had a child under the'age of ten;
b. making discriminatory statements to Complainant indicating that Defendants
had a preference against rentiné first-floor dwelling units at the Subject

Property to families with children under the age of ten; and



¢. adopting and implementi.ng a policy of refusing to rent first-floor dwelling .

units at the Subject Property to families with children under the age of ten.
9. The United States alleges that, through this conduct, Defendants have:

a, Violated 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a) by making unavailable and/or denying housing
bécause of familial S’Fatus;

b. Violated 42 U.S.C. § 3604(b) by discriminating in the terms, conditions, or
priviieges of rental of a dwelling, and/or in the provision of services or
facilities in connection therewith, because of familial status; and

¢. Violated 42 U.S.C. § 3604(c) by making, printing, or publishing, and/or
causing to be made, printed or published, any notice, statement, or
advertisement, with respect to the rental of a dwelling that indicates any
preference, limitation, or discrimination based oﬁ familial status, or an
intention to make any such preference, limitation, or discrimination.

10.  The Defendants have denied thé allegations set forth in Paragraphs 8 and 9.
11.  The Partics s-tipulate that this Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1345 and 42 U.S.C. § 3612(0). ‘

III. STATEMENT OF CONSIDERATION

12.  The Parties agree that the claims against Defendants should be resolved without
further proceedings or a trial, Therefore, the United States and the Defendants agree to the entry
of this Agreement. This Agreement constitutes a full resolution of the claims in the United
States” Complaint in this case against the Defendants. |

13.  Defendant MSM Brofhers, Inc., has attested that it does not have any other
i"esidential rental propefty that it owns or manages at which it implements a policy or practice of
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refusing to rent dwellings.to rhouseholds with children, or limiting where such households may
Iive..

14, In consideration of, and consistent with, the terms of this Agreement, the Parties
will move Jointly for dismissal of the Civil Action, consistent with the terms set forth in Section
Vv ‘of this Agreement. The Partics agree and acknowledge that this consideration is adequate and
sufficient.

THEREFORE, the Patties, through their authorized representatives, hereby stipulate and
agree as follows:

IV, TERMS AND CONDITIONS

A. Monetary Damages for the Complainant
15.  Within 30 days of the effective date of this Agreement, Defendants shall pay a
total of $25,000 (twenty-five thousand dollars) in monetary damages to Complainant by |
delivering to counsel for the United States a check payable to Kelsie Hoyne. Upon receipt of this
check, counsel for the United States shall deliver a signed release rin the form of Appendix D
from Kelsie Hoyne to counsel for Defendants. Ms, Hoyne shall not feceivc the check until she

has signed and delivered to counsel for the United States the release at Appendix D.
B. Prohibited Conduct and Affirmative Obligations

16.  Defendants, their agents, employees, successors,.and all other persons in active
concert or participation with Defendants in their ownership, operation, or management of rental
dwelling', shall not:

a. Refuse to rent or sell a dwelling, refuse or fail to pfovide or offer information

about a dwelling, refuse to negotiate for the rental or sale of a dwelling, or

' ‘The term “dwellings” has the meaning set out in the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.8.C. § 3602(b).
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otherwise make unavailable or deny a dwelling to any person because of
familial status in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a);

b. Discriminate against any person in the terms, conditions, or privileges of the
rental or sale of' a ciwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities in
connection therewith, because of familial status in violation of 42 U.S.C. §
3604(b); or

c. Make ény statement, oral or written, in connection with the rental or sale of a
dwelling, that expresses or indicates any preference, limitation, or
discrimination, or an intent to make any such preference, limitation, or
discrimination, on the basis of familial status in violation of 42 U.S.C.

§ 3604(c).

17.  The provisions of this Section shall apply to the Subject Property and all
dwellings in Whiéh any Defendant has or ac.quires a direct or indirect ownership, management, or
other financial interest, Defendants agree that the Subject Property does not satisfy the
requirements for I-Iousing“for Older Persons, see 42 US.C. § 3607(b), and agree that they will
not seek to qualify the Subject Property as Fousing for Older Persons within the I_;imé period this
Agreement is in effect, |

C. Non-Discrimination Policy and Notice to Public '

18, Upon the effective date of this Agreement, Defendant MS.M Brothers, Inc, shall
implément at the Subject Property the Nondiscrimination Policy appearing at Appendix A,

19.  Within 30 days of the effective.date of this Agreement and throughout its term,
Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc. shall distribute the Nondiscrimination Policy to all of its current
tenants, and, in accordance with Paragraph 21, to Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc.’s employees,
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agents, and anyone acting under the direction of Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc.,, including
Defendant Kim Hughes, who has responsibility for showing, renting, managing, or operating any
and all dwellings at the Subject Property.

20.  Within 30 days of the effective date of this Agreement, and continuing throughout
the term of the Agreement, Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc, shall take the following steps to
notify the public of Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc.’s commitment to not discriminate in the
rental of dwellings: .

a. Prominently post at the rental office(s) that Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc,
uses at any time during this Agreement to transact business related to the
rental of dwéllings, a fair housing sign no smaller than ten (10) inches by
fourteen (14) inches that indicates that all rental dwelling units are available
for ren.t on a nondiscriminatory basis. A poster that cdmports with 24 C.F.R.
Pa.rt 110 will satisty this requirement. Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc. may
use HUD Form 928, copies of which are available free of charge by calling
HUD directly at 800-669-9777 or online at
https://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/documents/huddoc?id=928.1.pdf.;

b. Inclu_de the words “Bqual Housing Opportunity” and/ot the fair housing logo
in all rental advertising for the Subject Property conducted by Defendant
MSM Brothers, Inc., or its agents or employees, in any medium, online, in
print or otherwise; including in or on websites, newspapers, flyers, handouts,

. telephone directories and other written materials; on radio, television, internet
or other media broadcasts; and on billboards, signs, pamphlets, brochures and
other promotional literature, provided that this requirement does not compel
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Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc, to advertise in any of these media, but does
require compliance with this provision whenever Defendant MSM Brothers,
Inc, so advertises, The words and/or logo shall be prominently placed and
easily readable; and

¢. Include the following phrase in all rental application(s) and all rental
agreement(s) used in the future for rental dwelling units at all properties
owned or managed by Deféndant MSM Brothers, Inc, in boldféce type, using
letters of equal or greater size to those of the text in the body of the document:

We are an equal housing opportunity provider. We do not-
discriminate on the basis of race, color, sex, national origin,
religion, disability or familial status (residing with children
under age 18).

D. Mandatory Training

21, Within 30 days of the effective date of this Agreeﬁlent, Defendant MSM Brothers,
Ine. shall provide a copy of this Agreement to its current employees and agents who are or were
involved in showing, renting, managing, or operating any dwelling unit at the Subject Property,
including Defendant Kim Hughes, Defendant MSM Brothefs, Inc. shall secure a signed
statement from cach such agent or employee acknowledging that he or she has received and read
the Agreement and the Nondiscrimination Policy (Appendix A), has had the opportunity to have
questions about the Agreement and Nondiscrimination Policy anslwered, and agrees to abide by
the relevant provigions of the Agreement and the Nondiscrimination Policy. This statement shall
be in the form of Appendix B,

22, During the term of this Agreement, within 30 days after each new agent or
employee becomes involved in showing, .renting, managing or operating any dwelling unit at the

Subject Property, Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc. shall provide a copy of this Agreement and the
. .



Nondiscrimination Pol-icy to cach such agent or employee and secure a signed statement from
each agent or employee acknowledging that he or she has received and read the Agreement and
the Nondiscrimination Policy (Appendix A), has had the opportunity to have questions about the
Agreement and Nondiscrimination Policy answered, and agrees to abide by the relevant
provisions of the Agreement and the Nondiscrimination Policy. This statement shall be in the
‘form of Appendix B. |

23.  Within 190 days from the effective date of this Agreement, Defendant MSM
Brothers, Inc., all its agents and employees, including Defendant Kim Hughes, and other agents-
“or employees associated with the operations of the Subject Property, shall undergo in-person
training on the Fair Housing Act, with specific emphasis on discrimination on the basis of
familial status. The training shall be cnnducted by an independent, qualified third party,
approved in advance by the United States, and shall last at least two hours. Any expenses
associated with this .training shall be borne by Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc. Each individual
who receives the training shall execute the Certificate of Training, attached hereto as Appendix
C.

24.  During the terrn of this Agreement_, all new ngents or employees responsible for
showing, renting, managing, and./or operating dwelling units at the Subject Property must receive
the fair housing training, described in Paragraph 23, within 60 days of beginning their
employment or agency and shall complete Appendix C.

E. Non-Discrimination Standards and Procedures

25.  Within 30 days from the effective date of this Agreement, Defendant MSM
Brothers, Inc, shall develop and submit to the United States, with respect to the Subject Property,

objective, uniform, non-discriminatory standards and procedures for informing persons about
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and showing available dwelling units to prospective tenants. The portions of such standards and
procedures that provide protections for tenants and prospective tenants from discrimination on
the basis of familial status shall be approved by the United States in advance 6f their
implementation. Within 5 days of when the United States approves the standards and
procedures, Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc. shall implement and prominently display them in any
office where there is rental activity and/or personal contact with tenants or prospective tenants,
Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc. and its agents, including Defendant Kim Hughes, and employees
shall make avéilable a copy of these standards and procedures upon request to any prospective
tenant for the rental of a dwelling. For the duration of this Agreement, these standérds and
procedures may be modified only if written notice is given to counsel for the Uﬁited_States 30
days before the proposed modifications are to take effect and the United States makes no
objection thereto.

26.  The nondiscriminatory standards and procedﬁres required by Paragraph 25,
above, shall include the use of the following documents, which Défendant MSM Brothers, Inc.
shall update for the Subject Property as new information becomes available, and retain for the
duration of this Agreement:

a, In Person and Online Inquiry Records: Defendants shall ensure that, for all

prospective tenants who inquire in person or online ébout dwelling units, a
paper and/or clectroﬁic file or other similar record is completed, either by the
prospective tenant and/or Defendants that contains:

i The date of the prospective tenant’s visit/online request and, when

the prospective tenant agrees to provide the information, the



prospective tenant’s name, addfess; daytime, and évening
telephone numbers;

ii. _ The dwelling size the prospective tenant 1‘equest§ and the date on
which the prospective tenant wishes to move;

iii. Whether the prospective tenant filled out an application;

iv.  Whether the prospective tenant was invited to see availabie
dwelling units, and if not invited, an explanation why not; and

v.  The names of all employees/agents who assisted the prbsi)ective
tenanf, if applicable.

b, Phone_Logs: Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc. shall ensure that, for all
prospective tenants who inquire by telephone about dwelling units,
Defendants shall maintain a phone log that contains the fo'llowing
information:

i. . The date of the prospective tenant’s phone call and, when the
prospective tenant agrees to provide the'informati-on, the
prospective tenant’s name and telephone number(s);

ii. The dwelling size the prospective tenant requests and the date on
'which the prospective tenant wishes to move;

iii. Whether the prospective tenant was invited to see available
dwelling units, and if not invited, an explanation why not;

iv. If applicable, the date and time on which the prospective tenant is

going to view the dwellings; and
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V. The names of all employees/agents who assisted the prospective
tenant.

¢. Availability List: Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc. shall ensure that it

maintains and timely updates an Availability List that includes the unit
numbers and dwelling size known to be available or rgaéonably éxpected to be
available for rental within 30 days, including the date either the Defendant
MSM Brothers, Inc, or Defendant’s agent(s), including Defendant Kim
Hughes, was first informed each would be available for rental and the first
date it‘ would be available for rental or occupancy by a new tenant, Defendant
MSM Brothers, Inc., its agents, ihciuding Defendant Kim Hughes, and its
employees shall share the information on the Availability List with each

person who visits or calls to inquire about the availability of dwelling units.

d. Rental Applications: Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc., its agents, inéluding
Defendant Kim Hughes, and its employees shall provide and process rental
applicatiqns on a non-discriminatory basis and shall maintain all rental
applications, whether deemed complete or incomplete, and any
correspondehce about the availability of dwelling units.

e. Waiting Lists: Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc., its agenté; including Defendant
Kim Hughes, and its employees shall maintain waiting lists in a non-
discriminatory manner and develop uniform standards for selecting
individuals from the list.

F. Compliance Testing

27, The United States méy take steps to monitor Defendants’ compliance with this
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Agreement including, but not limited to, conducting fair housing tests at any office(s) or
locations at which Defendants conduct rental activities.
G. Reporting and Document Retention Requirements
28.  Defendants shall, no later than 15 days after occurrence, provide’ to the United
States notification and documentation of the following events:?
a. Any change to the rules 61’ practices regarding the nondiscrimination
policy discussed in Section IV, Subsection C, or the nondiscriminatory standards
and procedures discussed in Section 1V, Subsection E, above;
b. Proof of notification of the Agreement and/or the nondiscrimination policy
described in Section IV, Subsections C and D, including executed copies of the
Acknowledgment forms, appearing at Appendix B; certifications of training,
appearing at Appgndix C, and a list of the names and addresses of all tenants to
whom the Agreement and/or the nondiscrimination policy was provided;
c. Photographs of each office in which rental activity is conducted showing

the fair housing signs, pursuant to Section 1V, Subsection C, of this Agreement;

2 All correspondence requited {o be sent to the United States under the provisions of this Settlement Agreement
shall be sent to the U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division, Housing and Civil Enforcement Section,
ATTN: MSM Brothers, Inc., DI# 175-47-44, at the following addresses:

Regular U.S. Mail: 950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. - NWB
' Washington, D.C, 20530

Overnight Mail: - 1800 G Street, N.W.
Suite 7002
Washington, D,C. 20006,

Couespondence may also be sent via electronic mail to the U.S. Department of Justice, care of a representative fon
the United States whom the United States will designate for Defendants.
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d. A sample of the rental application and lease adopted and implemented
pursuant to Paragraph 20(c) and any modifications to the rental application or
lease; and
€. Any written or oral complaint against any of Defendants, or
Defendants’ agents or employees, regarding discrimination in housing. If the
complaint is written, Defendant(s) shall provide a copy of it with the notification.
The notification shall include the full details of the complaint, including the
complainant’s name, address, and telephone number, - Defendants shall also
promptly provide the United States with all informaiio‘n it may request concerning
any such complaint and shall inform the United States within 15 days of the
substance of any resolution of such complaint.

29.  Within 30 days of the effective date of this Agreement, and t.hereaﬂ'er on the

anniversary of the effective date of this Agreement for its duration, Defendants shall deliver to

counsel for the United States a report containing information regarding their compliance efforts

with respect to the Subject Property during the preceding reporting period, ineluding but not

limited to:
a. Exeeuted copies of Appendices B and C, to the extent not previously
provided;
b Notification and documentation of the adoption and implementation of the

nondiscriminatory standards and procedures discussed in Section IV, Subsection

E, and any modifications to these standards and procedures;
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C. Photographs of any new and/or additilon'al office(s) in which rental activity
is conducted showing the Nondiscrimination policy and notiee to the public;
pursuant to Section IV, Subsection C, of this Agreement; and
d. Any published advertisements pursuant to Paragraph 20(b).
The final report to the United States shall be sublﬁitted no later than 60 days before the
expil'etion of this Agreement.

30.  During the period in which this Agreement is in effect, Defendants shall preserve
all records for the Subject Property that are the source of, contain, or relate to any of the
information pertinent to their obligations under this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all
guest files or other similar repotts, availabil.ity lists, waiting lists, rental applications, leases,
rental roll ledgers, and occupancy lists. Upen reasonable notice to counsel for Defendants,
representatives of elle United States shall be permitted to inspect and copy. all such records
related to this Agreement. at any and all reasonable times or, upon request by the United States,
Defendants shall provide copies of such documents; provided, howevet, that the United States
shall endeavor to minimize any inconvenience to Defendants.

G. Acquisition or Transfer of Interest in Dwellings

31.  If Defendant Kim Hughes becomes involved in the management of any residential
rental property for which she does not currently have any management responsibilities, she shall
inform the United States within thirty (30) days of the commencement of such involvement and
provide the date on which the involvement began; the nature of the involvemeﬁt; the address of
the property; and the number of dwelling units. 1f, at any time before the expiration of this
Agreement, any Defendant acquires a direct er indirect management, ownership, financial, or
control ieterest in any other residential rental property, such property shall become subject to the
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applicable provisions of this Agreement. Within thirty (30) days of acquiring such an interest,
Defendants shall notify counsel for the United State of the nature of the Defendant’-s interest in
the dwelling units at the property, and any other information required under the Agi‘eement.
Defendants shall further provide a copy of documents memorializing the transfer in interest.

32.  If, at any time before the expiration of this Agreement, the Subject Property or
other property subject to this Agreement has been or is sold or transferred to a bona fide,
independent, third-party purchaser in an afmS~length transaction, such property shall cease to be

subject to this Agreement. For purposes of this paragraph, a “bona fide, independent, third-party
purchaser” is one in which neither Defendants nor a corporation or e'ntity of which any
Defendant is an officer, partner, employee, or agent, has any current or past financial,
contractual, personal, 6r familial relationship.

33,  If Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc, maintainsg thaf its obligations under this
Agreement have terminated or changed because Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc. has sold or
transferred all or any portion of the Subject Property to a bona-fide third party purchaser in an
arms-length transaction, Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc. shall inform the United States within
thirty (30} days of such transaction and provide the date of the sale or transfer, copies of the sale
or transfer documenlts., thg name(s) and contact information for the purchaser, and will issue to
the United States its final report pur.suant to Paragraph 29.

34, If any transfer of Defendant MSM Brotheﬁ, I[nc.’s interest in the Subject Property

or any Defendant’s interest in another property subject to this Agreement is not an arms-length

* For purposes of this Agreement, “arms-length transaction” is defined as a transaction that has been airived at in the
markstplace between independent, non-affiliated persons, unrelated by blood or marriage, with opposing economic
interests regarding that transaction. A transaction involving a corporate entity in which any Defendant, or any
person related to any Defendant by blood or marriage, is an officer, agent, employee, or partner, or has any
ownership, financial, or control interest, shall not be considered an arms-length fransaction.
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transaction, Defendants and the new ownet(s) shall remain jointly and severally liable for any
violations of this Agreement for its duration.

V. IMPLEMENTATION, ENFORCEMENT, AND DISMISSAL OF UNDERLYING
ACTION

35, The United States may review compliance with this Agreement at any time.
Defendants agree to coopefate with the United States in any review of compliance with this
‘Agreement, Upon reasonable notice, Defendants shall permit counsel for the United States to
ihspect and copy all non-privileged records pertinent to this Agreement.

36.  Should the Defendants fail to timely make any required settlement payment
described herein or materially breach any other provision of this Agreement, the Parties agree
that upon any such claim of breach as made by the United States, the United States may move to
restore the present Civil Action to the active docket of this Court for purposes of resolution of
any such claim of breach, or may file a separate action in the United States District Court for the
District of New Hampshire to remedy th¢ breach. In the event of such a claim of breach as made
by the United States, the Defendants consent to and agree not to contest the United States’
motion to restore the present Civil Action to the Cou_rt’s’ active docket, and consent to and agree
not to contest the exercise of jurisdiction, including personal jurisdiction over the Defendants, by
this Court.

37.  Before taking the steps outlined inlthe preceding Paraéraph, the United States
shall first provide Derfendants notice of any breach in writing and shall afford them 30 days from

the date of mailing to cure the default.

* Notice shall be made to counsel for Defendants at: David P, Avzarian, Esq., Azarian Law Office, PLLC
90 Washington Street, Suite 301 B/C, Dover, NH 03820
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38. - Inthe event the United States reinstates the Civil Action as contemplated by
Paragraph 36, abéve, or any other civil action is commenced to remedy breach of this
Agreement, the United States may seek the following: 1) an order mandating specific
performance of any term or provision in this Agreement, without regard to whether monetary
relief would be ade;quatc; 2) an award of reasonable attorﬁeys’ fees and costs incurred in
bringing an action to remedy breach of this Agreement; and 3) any additional relief that may Be |
authorized by law or equity. If the Civil Action is reinstated or any other such civil action is
filed, Defendants expressly agree not to count fhe time during which this Agreement is in place,
or use the terms or existence of this Agreement, to plead, argue or otherwise raise any defenses
under theories of claim preclusion, issue preclusion, statute of limitations, estopiael, laches, or
similar defenses.

39.  Failure by the United States to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall not
operate as a wéiver of the United States’ right or ability to enforce any other provision of this
Agreement.

40.  Following the execution of this Agreement, the parties shall jointly move the
Court for dismissal with prejudice of the underlying Civil Action, subject to its reinstatement as .
set forth in Paragraph 36, above.

VI. TERMINATION OF LITIGATION HOLD

41, The Parties agree that, as of the date of the effective date of this Agreement,
litigation is not “reasonably foreseeable” concerning the maiters described in the United States’
 Complaint. To the extent that any Party previously implemented a litigation hold to preserve
documents, electronically stored information (ESI), or things related to the matters described in
the Complaint, that Party is no longer required to maintain such a litigation hold. Nothing in this
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paragraph relieves any Party of any other obligations imposed by this Agreem_ent.
- VIL. DURATION, EXECUTION, AND OTHER TERMS

42.  This Agreement is effective on the date of signature of the last signatory to the
Agreement. The Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which together
shall be considered an original but all of which shall constitute one agreement. Facsimiles of
signatures shall constitute acceptable, binding signatures for purposes of thie Agreement.

43.  Except with respect to those obligations set forth in Paragraph 16, the provisions
of this Agreement shall remain in effect for four years after the eﬂ’eetive date.

44.  Except as stated in Paragraph 38, above, each Party shall bear its own legal or
other costs incurred in connection with this matter, including the preparation, negotiation and
performance of this Agreement.

45, This Agreement, including Appendices A-C, coestitutes the complete agreement
between the parties relating to the claims made in the Complaint. No prior or contemporaneous
- communications, oral or written, or prior drafts shall be relevant or admissible for }eurposes of
determining the meaning of any provision herein or in any other proceeding.
| 46.  Each Party and signatory to this Agreement represents that it freely and
voluntarily enters into this Agreement without any degree of duress or compulsion. The Parties
agree that each Party and its representatives have acted consistent with the duty of good faith and
fair deéling.

47.  The undersigned represent and warrant that they are fully authorized to execute

this Agreement on behalf of the persons and entities indicated below.
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48, The provisions of this Agreement shall apply to the Defendants and their officers,
employees, agents, successors and assigns, and all other persons or entities in active concert or
participation with any Defendant,

49,  This Agreement is governed by and shall be interpreted under the laws (.)f the
United States. For purposes of construing or interpreting this Agreement, thié Agreement shall
Be deemed to have been drafted by all Par-ties and shall not be construed or interpreted against
any Party for that reason in any subsequent dispute.

50.  Except where this Agreement expressly condit'ions or predicates performance of a
duty or obligation upon the performance of a duty or obligation By another Party, the
performance of one Party’s duties or obligations under this Agreement shall not be discharged or
excused by the actual or alleged breach of the duties and obligations of another Party.

51. This Agreement is a public document. The Parties agree and consent to the
United States’ disclosure of this Agreement and information concerning this Agreement to the
public. |

52.  Should any provision of this Agreement be declared or determined by any court to
be illegal or invalid, the validity of the remaining paris, terms or provisions shall not be affected
thereby and said illegal of invalid part, term or provision shall be deemed not to be a part of this
Agreement,

53. The Parties agree that they will defend this Agreement against any challenge by
any third party. In the event that this Agreement or any of its terms are challenged in a court
other than the United States District Court for the District of New Hampshire, the Parties agree
that they will seek removal and/or transfer to the United States District Court for the District of
New Hampshire,
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54. This Agreement may be modified only with the written consent of the Parties.
Any modification must be in writing and signed by the parties to the particular obligation

through their authorized representatives.
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For Plaintlff; the United States:
DATED; Docetrber |2, 2017

JOHN I, FARLEY o
Acting Unlted States Attorney
Distrlot of New Hampshire

w . /%éw/

MICHAEL MeCORMACK

New Hawmpshire Bar No, 16470
Assistant United States Afforney
53 Pleasant Street, 4% Floor
Coneovd, NI 03301

Tel: (603) 225-1552
Michael.Mcootmack2@usdoj.gov

JOHNM. GORE
Aoting Assistant Attorney General
Civil Rights Division

/

&. % L wihe 1 AL i }’%
SANEENA SHINA MATEED
Chief

Houstng and Civil Bnforeement Section
R, TAMAR HAGLER.
Doputy Chiel

- LAUREN M, MARKS

Michigan Bar No, P77691

' Trial Attorney
- Housing and Civil Bnforcement Seotlon

Civil Rights Division

United States Department of Justice
950 Pennsylvania Avenve, NW - NWB
Washington, DC 20530

Telt (202) 353-6059

Tax: (202) 514-1116
Lavren.Marks@usdo].gov

For Defandants MSM Brothers, Ine. and Kim Hughes:

DATED: December YLs 2017

/sp@Q/—

DAVID P Aw BSQ.
Avarian Law #PLLC

00 'Washington Streel

Suite 30L B/C

Dover, NI 03820

Phone: (603) 750-0015

Pax: (603) 750-0016

Ermail: dazarlan@ararianlaw.not




APPENDIX A
NONDISCRIMINATION POLICY

It is the policy of the owners and operators of White Cliffs at Dover apartments — MSM
Brothers, Inc. —to comply with Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968, as amended,
commonly known as the Fair Housing Act, by ensuring that apartments are available to all
persons without regard to race, color, religion, national origin, disability, sex, or familial status,
This policy means that, among other things, the owners and operators of White Cliffs at Dover
apartments and ali their agents and employees with the responsibility for renting, managing, or
administering any dwelling units must not discriminate in any aspect of the rental of dwellings
against qualified applicants or tenants. Specifically, they may not:

A. Refuse to rent, refuse to negotiate for the rental of, or otherwise make unavailable or
deny, a dwelling to any person because of race, color, religion, national origin,
disability, sex, or familial status (residing with a child under eighteen);

B. Discriminate against any person in the terms, conditions or privileges of rental of a
dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities in connection therewith, because
of race, color, religion, national origin, disability, sex, or familial status (tesiding with
a child under cighteen);

C. Make, print, or publish, or cause to be made, printed, or published any notice,
statement, or advertisement, with respect to the rental of a dwelling that indicates any
preference, limitation, or discrimination based on race, color, religion, national origin,
disability, sex, or familial status (residing with a child under eighteen); or

D. Represent to persons because of race, color, religion, national origin, disability, sex,
or familial status (residing with a child under eighteen) that any dwelling is not
available for inspection or rental when such dwelling is in fact so available.

Any agent or employee who fails to comply with this Nondiscrimination Policy will be
subject to appropriate disciplinary action. Any action taken by an agent or employee that results
in unequal service to, treatment of, or behavior toward tenants or actual or potential applicants on
the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, disability, sex, or familial status may constitute
a violation of state and federal fair housing laws, Any tenant or applicant who believes that any
of the above policies have been violated by any owner, agent, or employee may contact the U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development at 1-888-799-2085, or the U.S. Department of
Justice at 1-800-896-7743 or 202-514-4713,
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APPENDIX B

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RECEIPT OF SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND
' NONDISCRIMINATION POLICY

1 acknowlédge that on , 20, T was provided a copy of the

Settlement Agreemeht in United States v. MSM Brothers, Inc. et al., No. 1:17-cv-00321-PB (D.
N.H.), and a copy of thé Nondiscrimination Policy adopted by Defendant MSM Brothers, Inc,
pursuant thereto. [have read and upderstand these documents and have had my questions about
these documents answered. 1 understand my legal responsibilities and shall comply with those

responsibilities.

Signature

Print Name

J ob Title/Position

Daie
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APPENDIX C
EMPLOYEFE TRAINING ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I acknowledge that on ,20___, Ireceived _

minutes of in-person training on the requirements of the Fair Housing Act.

Signature

Print Name

Job Title/Position

Date
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APPENDIX D
FULL AND FINAL RELEASE OF CLAIMS

In consideration for the parties” agreement to the terms of the Settlement Agreement they
entered into in the case of United States v. MSM Brothers, Inc, et al., No. 1:17-cv-00321-PB (D.
N.H.), and in consideration for the payment of $25,000, I, Kelsie Hoyne, do hereby fully release
and forever discharge MSM Brothers, Inc. d/b/a White Cliffs at Dover and Kim Hughes
(hereinafter “Defendants™), along with their insurers, co-insurers, reinsurers, attorneys, related
companies, principals, predecessors, successors, assigns, affiliates, partners, directors, officers,
agents, employers, shareholders, subsidiaries, employees, former employees, independent
contractors, heirs, executors, and administrators and any persons acting under their respective
direction or control from any and all fair housing claims set forth or related to the facts at issue in
the litigation referenced above, or in any way related to that litigation, and any other claims
arising from alleged housing discrimination that I may have had against any of them for any of
Defendants’ actions or statements related to those claims through the date of the entering into the
Settlement Agreement,

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed this day of , 2017,

[Signature]

[Print Name]
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